2010

# Utah v. Dykes : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

**JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

This is an interlocutory appeal from a denial of a Motion to Quash Information on one count of Theft by Receiving Stolen Property, a Third Degree Felony, in violation of Utah Code section 76-6-408, in the Third Judicial District, in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, the Honorable Michelle Christiansen, presiding. This Court has jurisdiction under Utah Code section 78A-4-103(2)(d). See Addendum A (Order Granting Permission to Appeal).

**ISSUE AND STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Issue: Whether the district court violated the rule announced by the Utah Supreme Court in State v. Brickey<sup>1</sup> and Mr. Dykes's due process rights when it denied Mr. Dykes's Motion to Quash, even though the State, without new or previously unavailable evidence, refiled a charge that was previously found to be unsupported by sufficient

---

<sup>1</sup> 714 P.2d 644 (Utah 1986)

evidence after a preliminary hearing where no evidence was presented on an element of the offense.

Standard of Review: A lower court's application of the Brickey rule is an interpretation of case law that this Court reviews for correctness, according no deference to the lower court's legal conclusion. See State v. Redd, 2001 UT 113, ¶ 13, 37 P.3d 1160.

Preservation: This issue is preserved in the Record from District Court Case No. 101901771, at 21–81<sup>2</sup> (Motion to Quash Information); R71:102 (Minutes from Motion to Quash Hearing); R71:114 (Transcript from Motion to Quash Hearing); R71:103–05 (Ruling and Order Denying Motion to Quash).

### **CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, AND RULES**

The following provisions are determinative of the issue on appeal. Their text is provided in full in Addendum B.

Utah Const. art. 1, sec. 7.

Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-408 (LexisNexis 2008).

Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-412 (LexisNexis 2008).

---

<sup>2</sup> Because this case involves multiple dismissals and refilings of charges filed under different case numbers in the district court each time, the record on appeal contains separately paginated pleadings and transcripts under two different district court case numbers—Case No. 091905392 and Case No. 101901771. For ease of reference, each separately paginated portion of the record will be cited as “R” for record followed by the last two numbers of the district court case number—either “71” or “92”—followed by a colon and the page number in the record. If the record cite is to the first page of a transcript, any pincite to individual pages of that transcript will be preceded by a second colon.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Mr. Dykes by information with one count of Theft by Receiving Stolen Property, a Second Degree Felony, in violation of Utah Code section 76-6-408. See R71:21, 30. At a preliminary hearing before the Third District Court, the court dismissed the charge without prejudice because the State's witnesses were not present. See R71:21, 33, 115:3.

The State refiled the charge in the Third District Court, again charging Mr. Dykes with Theft by Receiving Stolen Property, a Second Degree Felony, in violation of Utah Code section 76-6-408. R92:2; R71:22, 36. After a preliminary hearing, the magistrate found probable cause to bind Mr. Dykes over on the charge. R71:22, 39; R92:116:19.

Mr. Dykes moved to quash the bindover because, among other reasons, the item he was alleged to have stolen was not an operable motor vehicle under Utah Code section 76-6-408, the Theft by Receiving Stolen Property Statute, and, therefore, did not aggravate the offense to the level of a Second Degree Felony. R92:18–25. The Second Degree Felony variant of this offense requires as an element that the item alleged stolen be either an operable motor vehicle, a firearm, or valued at over \$5,000. See Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-412(1)(a) (2008). At the hearing on this motion, the district court did not quash the bindover, but agreed that there was insufficient evidence to bind Mr. Dykes over on a Second Degree Felony and ordered the Theft by Receiving Stolen Property charge bound over as a Class B Misdemeanor. R92:54, 117:15–16. The State responded with two motions—first to bind the charge over as a Class A Misdemeanor, and second,



to reopen the preliminary hearing to present additional evidence. R92:54, 117:17. The district court denied these motions. R92:54, 117:17–18.

Mr. Dykes then moved the district court to dismiss the Class B Misdemeanor charge, arguing that the district court lacked subject matter jurisdiction over Class B Misdemeanors and that Class B Misdemeanor charges should instead be filed in the appropriate justice court. R92:66–67. The district court granted the motion and dismissed the charge without prejudice. R92:68; 118:5.

The State refiled the Theft by Receiving Stolen Property charge in the Third District Court, this time as a Third Degree Felony, in violation of Utah Code section 76-6-408. R71:1–2. At the time of the alleged offense, Theft by Receiving Stolen Property was a third degree felony if the allegedly stolen property was valued between \$1,000 and \$5,000. See Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-412(1)(b)(i) (2008). Mr. Dykes filed a motion to quash the information, arguing that the State’s refiling of charges violated his due process rights as outlined by the Utah Supreme Court in State v. Brickey, 714 P.2d 644 (Utah 1986). R71:21–27. At the hearing on this motion, the State offered two exhibits as evidence of the value of the allegedly stolen item. R71:114:11; 120–21. The same judge who denied the State’s earlier motions to bind Mr. Dykes over on a Class A Misdemeanor and reopen the preliminary hearing denied Mr. Dykes’s Motion to Quash the Information. R71:103–06; see Addendum C (Ruling and Order).

Mr. Dykes filed a petition for permission to file an interlocutory appeal asking this Court to review the district court’s denial of his Motion to Quash. See R71:107. This Court granted that petition on October 19, 2010. See Addendum A. This appeal follows.

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

On April 10, 2009, the State charged Mr. Dykes by Information with one count of Theft by Receiving Stolen Property, a second degree felony in violation of Utah Code section 76-6-408 and Utah Code section 76-6-412(1)(a). See R71:21, 30. The district court dismissed the case without prejudice when the State's witnesses failed to appear for a preliminary hearing on June 25, 2009. See R71:21, 33, 115:3.

On July 10, 2009, the State refiled the case, again charging Mr. Dykes by Information with one count of theft by receiving stolen property, a second degree felony in violation of Utah Code section 76-6-408. R92:2–3. The charging document alleged that the level of offense was a Second Degree Felony because the value of the stolen property “was or exceeded \$5,000 or the property stolen was a firearm or an operable motor vehicle.” R92:2; see also Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-412(1)(a) (LexisNexis 2008). The probable cause statement alleged that Mr. Dykes was in possession of a stolen 4-wheeler ATV. R92:3.

At the preliminary hearing, the State called one witness, West Valley Police Officer Patrick Plese. R92:116:2–16. Officer Plese testified that on April 7, 2009, he was monitoring traffic near 3800 South and Redwood Road when he saw an ATV turn onto Redwood Road. R92:116:2–3. He determined that it must be some type of violation to drive an ATV on the road since it was not possible to make that type of four-wheeler road legal, so he requested that the driver, Mr. Dykes, pull into a driveway. R92:116:3–4. Officer Plese noticed that the ATV was a few years old, in decent condition and that the factory yellow paint had been partially repainted. R92:116:4–5. Mr. Dykes told Officer

Plese that he owned the ATV and that he bought it from someone named Gary Smith. R92:116:5–6. He also told Officer Plese that he had not yet registered the ATV in his name and that he thought it was still registered to Gary Smith. See R92:116:5–6. Mr. Dykes found the ATV's registration and provided it to Officer Plese. R92:116:6. Officer Plese determined that the ATV was a 2004 Honda Rancher registered to Myrna Robb, and that the ATV was reported stolen out of Nephi, Utah. R92:116:6–7. Officer Plese then arrested Mr. Dykes. R92:116:7–8.

Officer Plese further testified that he went to Mr. Dykes's residence to try and locate an additional ATV and trailer that were reported stolen at the same time as the 2004 Honda Rancher ATV, but found nothing. R92:116:8–9. Officer Plese admitted he did not do any investigation into the existence of Gary Smith. R92:116:14–15.

In addition to Officer Plese's testimony, the State introduced two 1102 statements. R92:50–53, 116:6, 8. The first statement was from Danny Robb. R92:50–51. The statement provided that Danny Robb and his wife Myrna Robb are the owners of the 2004 Honda Rancher ATV Mr. Dykes was driving on April 7, 2009, that on or about January 8, 2009, Mr. Robb's 2004 Honda Rancher ATV, along with his sister-in-law Karin Robb's 2004 Honda Rubicon ATV and trailer, were stolen from Karin's residence in Nephi, Utah. R92:50–51. Danny Robb stated that he did not know Mr. Dykes and never gave Mr. Dykes permission to use his 2004 Honda Rancher ATV. R92:50–51. The statement also stated that the 2004 Honda Rancher ATV had been partially repainted. R92:50–51. The statement did not give the value of the 2004 Honda Rancher ATV. R92:50–51. Indeed, no evidence of the value of the 2004 Honda Rancher ATV was

presented at the preliminary hearing either by way of testimony or any 1102 statement.

R92:116:17.

The second 1102 statement was from Karin Robb. R92:52–53, 116:8. This statement provided that she owned a 2004 Honda Rubicon ATV and a trailer and that on or about January 8, 2009, her ATV and trailer, and Danny Robb's ATV, were stolen from her residence. R92:52. As part of Karin Robb's statement, a receipt for her 2004 Honda Rubicon ATV was submitted, which showed the 2004 Honda Rubicon ATV was purchased for \$5,849.19. R92:53. Karin Robb also averred that Mr. Dykes did not have permission to be in possession of her 2004 Honda Rubicon ATV. R92:52. However, Mr. Dykes was never in possession of the 2004 Honda Rubicon ATV, and he was never charged with a crime related to this ATV.

At the close of the preliminary hearing, defense counsel argued against bindover because there was not sufficient evidence to support a reasonable belief that Mr. Dykes knew or probably believed the ATV was stolen and because no evidence was presented on the element of the value of the 2004 Honda Rancher ATV. R92:116:16–17. The State responded that there was no evidence of value because an ATV is an operable motor vehicle and value was an alternative, and the State had otherwise presented sufficient evidence for bindover. R92:116:18. The magistrate acknowledged that there was no evidence of value presented but bound Mr. Dykes over as charged nonetheless. R92:116:18–19.

Mr. Dykes filed a motion to quash the bindover, arguing that factually, there was insufficient evidence to bind the defendant over for trial when no evidence, beyond pure

speculation, was presented that Mr. Dykes believed that the ATV had probably been stolen. R92:18–22. In addition, Mr. Dykes argued for the trial court to quash the bindover because there was no evidence of value presented at the preliminary hearing and, under the theft statute, an ATV is not an operable motor vehicle. R92:22–25.

The district court held a hearing on Mr. Dykes’s motion to quash. R92:117. In addition to arguing the evidence was insufficient, defense counsel argued that an ATV is not an operable motor vehicle, and, since there was no evidence of value presented, the court should quash the bindover. R92:117:1–6. Specifically, defense counsel argued that since the term “operable motor vehicle” is not defined anywhere in the theft statutes under which Mr. Dykes was charged, the Court should look to the definition of “motor vehicle” provided in Utah Code section 76-6-410.5(1)(a), Theft of a Rental Vehicle, which is under the same Chapter (Offenses Against Property) and Part (Theft) as the offense of theft by receiving stolen property. R92:23–24, 117:4–5; Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-408. That definition, which states “motor vehicle means a self-propelled vehicle that is intended primarily for use and operation on the highways,” does not include an ATV, which is intended primarily for use and operation off of the highways. See Utah Code § 76-6-410(1)(a) (2008).

In response, the State sidestepped the argument of whether an ATV is an operable motor vehicle and moved to amend the charge to a class A misdemeanor.<sup>3</sup>

---

<sup>3</sup> At the time of the alleged offense, theft by receiving stolen property qualified as a class A misdemeanor under Utah Code section 76-6-412(1)(c) if the value of the

R92:117:11,17. In support of its motion, the State argued that it would be reasonable for the court to assume that the value of the 2004 Honda Rancher ATV was more than \$300 and less than \$1,000. R92:117:11–12. Since the district court did not have any evidence of the value of the 2004 Honda Rancher ATV, it denied the State’s motion to amend the charge to a class A misdemeanor. R92:117:16–17.

The district court concluded that an ATV is not an operable motor vehicle for purposes of the theft by receiving stolen property statute and, since there was no evidence of value presented at the preliminary hearing, the court bound the charge over as a class B misdemeanor:<sup>4</sup>

Motor vehicle is defined as . . . a self-propelled vehicle that is intended primarily for use and operation on the highways. An ATV is not intended primarily for use and operation on the highway. That’s just a matter of common sense that we follow and can take note of. . . . And so to bind this over as a second degree felony, the State would have to have presented evidence of value of the vehicle. I don’t find that the information provided . . . is sufficient to either bind it over as a second degree felony or as a third degree felony. . . . [A]s it stands right now from the information that was provided at the preliminary hearing, I don’t have any information about the value of this item and will bind it over as a Class B misdemeanor.

---

property was or exceeded \$300 but was less than \$1,000. Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-412(1)(c) (LexisNexis 2008).

<sup>4</sup> At the time of the alleged offense, theft by receiving stolen property qualified as a class B misdemeanor under Utah Code section 76-6-412(1)(d) when the property had some value but that value was less than \$300. Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-412(1)(d) (LexisNexis 2008).

R92:117:16–17 (emphasis added). After the trial court announced its ruling, the State moved to reopen the preliminary hearing in order to present evidence of the value of the 2004 Honda Rancher ATV. R92:117:17. After hearing argument on the motion, the trial court denied the State’s motion to reopen the preliminary hearing and again stated that the case was going to be bound over as a class B misdemeanor. R92:117:18.

In reliance on the district court’s previous rulings denying the State’s motion to reopen the preliminary hearing, and denying the State’s motion to amend the charge to a class A misdemeanor, defense counsel moved to have the class B misdemeanor dismissed. R92:66–67. The basis for the motion was that, pursuant to Utah Code section 78A-5-102(8), the district court did not have subject matter jurisdiction over a single class B misdemeanor and that the charge was instead appropriately adjudicated in a justice court. R92:66–67; see also R92:118:3–5. The trial court agreed that it lacked subject matter jurisdiction and dismissed the charge without prejudice. R92:68, 118:5.

Rather than filing the charge as a class B misdemeanor in a justice court, the State refiled the case for a third time, this time as a third degree felony in the district court. R71:1–2. The Information and accompanying probable cause statement do not allege any new evidence of value. R71:1–2.

Defense counsel moved to have the case set before the judge who dismissed the previous filing of charges so that she could determine whether the third refile violated the standards set forth in State v. Brickey, 714 P.2d 644 (Utah 1986), for cases refiled after the State fails to produce sufficient evidence for bindover at a preliminary hearing.

R71:20. Both parties submitted written motions on the validity of the third refile, and the matter was set for a motion hearing. R71:21–102.

At the motion hearing, defense counsel argued that refiling the charge as a third degree felony violated the standards set forth in Brickey, since any evidence of value presented by the State did not constitute new or previously unavailable evidence since it could have been, with ordinary diligence, produced at the previous preliminary hearing. R71:114:5–11. Counsel for Mr. Dykes also argued that pursuant to State v. Redd, 2001 UT 113, ¶ 17, 37 P.3d 1160, the State’s failure to present any evidence on an essential element of the charged offense at the previous preliminary hearing did not constitute an innocent miscalculation or good cause to refile, and that absent new or previously unavailable evidence, the refile as a third degree felony violated Mr. Dykes’s due process protections under Brickey. R71:114:8.

Counsel for Mr. Dykes also argued that the State should be prohibited from refiling the charge as a third degree felony under the doctrine of res judicata,<sup>5</sup> since the trial court previously denied the State’s motion to reopen the preliminary hearing, and denied the State’s motion to amend the charge to a class A misdemeanor, and instead amended the charge to a class B misdemeanor and dismissed the case for lack of jurisdiction. R71:114:4–5. Counsel for Mr. Dykes asked the trial court to dismiss the case with prejudice. R71:114:11.

---

<sup>5</sup> Although counsel for Mr. Dykes never used the term res judicata in argument, the legal concepts of res judicata and the related doctrine of the law of the case were argued to the trial court.



In response, the State offered evidence of value, two documents printed off of the Kelley Blue Book website the day prior to the hearing, showing suggested retail values of two different 2004 Honda Rancher ATVs.<sup>6</sup> R71:114:11; R71:120–21. The prosecutor did not try to argue that this evidence was new or previously unavailable. R71:114:14. In fact the prosecutor admitted, “I overlooked this evidence and this is—this is not— anybody could have looked this up. A diligent lawyer on either side could have consulted Kelley. I made a mistake.” R71:114:14–15. Instead, the prosecutor argued that pursuant to State v. Morgan, 2001 UT 87, 34 P.3d 767, his mistake constituted an innocent miscalculation of the quantum of evidence needed for bindover. R71:114:11–17. The State conceded that an ATV is not an operable motor vehicle for purposes of the theft by receiving stolen property statute, but instead argued that the alleged victims of the crime should not be punished because the State made a mistake. R71:114:12, 20–21.

The district court denied Mr. Dykes’s Motion to Quash the Information. R71:103–05; Addendum C (Ruling and Order). Even though the State did not present any evidence at the preliminary hearing on the element of the value of the allegedly stolen 2004 Honda Rancher ATV, and even though the district court recognized that the State’s Kelley Blue Book printouts were not new or previously unavailable evidence, the court held that the State innocently miscalculated the quantum of evidence necessary for bindover, and, since the defense did not show that the prosecution engaged in abusive practices in

---

<sup>6</sup> These two documents were not part of the charging documents for the third refile or otherwise included in the discovery; rather, they were provided to defense counsel at the motion hearing. R71:114:5.

miscalculating the evidence, dismissal was not appropriate. R71:103–05; Addendum C. Mr. Dykes petitioned this Court for interlocutory review of this order and this Court granted that petition. See Addendum A. This appeal follows.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The State is prohibited by the due process clause of the Utah Constitution from refiling Class A Misdemeanor and Second and Third Degree Felony charges against Mr. Dykes. Unless the State offers new or previously unavailable evidence or otherwise demonstrates good cause, due process considerations bar refiling charges if those charges have been dismissed due to insufficient evidence after a preliminary hearing. State v. Brickey, 714 P.2d 644, 647 (Utah 1986). One type of “good cause” exists when a prosecutor “innocently miscalculates the quantum of evidence necessary to bind over a defendant.” State v. Redd, 2001 UT 113, ¶ 13, 37 P.3d 1160 (citing State v. Morgan, 2001 UT 87, ¶ 19, 34 P.3d 767). But such good cause does not exist when the State “refiles a charge when it has been dismissed for the State’s failure to provide any evidence on a clear element of the relevant criminal statute.” Id. ¶ 17 (emphasis added). Rather, in that situation, “a potentially abusive practice exists” such that “the presumption is that the State has violated the due process rights of [the] defendant and is barred from refiling . . . excepting new or previously unavailable evidence or other good cause.” Id.

This court should reverse the district court’s denial of Mr. Dykes’s Motion to Quash Information because refiling charges against Mr. Dykes despite failing to present a scintilla of evidence on an essential element of the offense at a previous preliminary hearing is a potentially abusive practice that violates Mr. Dykes’s right to due process

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