2010

Utah v. Dykes : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The State originally charged Defendant with theft by receiving stolen property, i.e., a stolen ATV four-wheeler a second degree felony. At the preliminary hearing, the State proceeded on the theory that the theft was a second degree felony based on the character of the stolen property – an ATV four-wheeler – as an operable motor vehicle. The magistrate bound Defendant over for trial as charged. In district court, Defendant moved to quash the bindover on the ground that an ATV is not an operable motor vehicle under the theft statute. The district court agreed and reduced the theft charge to a class B misdemeanor. It then dismissed the case for lack of jurisdiction. The State then filed a new Information in district court, but now alleged a third degree felony theft by receiving based on the value of the stolen ATV.

The magistrate correctly denied Defendant's motion to dismiss based on *State v. Brickey*, 714 P.2d 644 (Utah 1986). Because the State charged Defendant with third degree felony theft based on a different theory – value – than in the original case – operable motor vehicle – it cannot be said that it was earlier dismissed for insufficient evidence and thus *Brickey* does not apply. Even assuming arguendo that *Brickey* applies, the State's failure to produce evidence of value in the original case was no more than an innocent miscalculation where (1) the theft by receiving statute does not define motor vehicle, (2) no

Utah court has addressed the issue, and (3) Defendant did not challenge at the preliminary hearing the State's claim that an ATV is an operable motor vehicle. Accordingly, the refiling was justified by good cause.

ARGUMENT

STATE DUE PROCESS DOES NOT BAR THE STATE FROM CHARGING DEFENDANT WITH THIRD DEGREE FELONY THEFT BY RECEIVING STOLEN PROPERTY

In denying Defendant's motion to dismiss the March 2010 Information, the magistrate in this case ruled that the State had "good cause in refiling" because it "seemingly innocently miscalculated the evidence" in initially pursuing the theft charge as a second degree felony. *See* 2R104-05. The magistrate ruled that "[o]ther than [the State's] certain doggedness to refile this matter, ostensibly to protect the rights of the victim, the facts do not indicate that the prosecution engaged in abusive practices in refiling the charges." 2R105. The magistrate concluded that the State "has not engaged in forum shopping, the refiling does not appear to be a tactic to withhold evidence from the defense, and, based upon the original bindover . . . , the charges are not groundless or improvident." 2R105. This Court should affirm.

A. The *Brickey* rule bars refiling only when potential abusive practices are involved.

Under article I, section 13 of the Utah Constitution, “defendants [have] the right to a preliminary hearing for indictable offenses,” which include felonies and class A misdemeanors. *State v. Hernandez*, 2011 UT 70, ¶¶21,29, ___ Utah Adv. Rep. ___. “At the preliminary hearing, the State bears the burden of presenting sufficient evidence to establish probable cause that the crime has been committed and that the accused has committed it.” *State v. Pacheco-Ortega*, 2011 UT App 186, ¶10, 257 P.3d 498; accord Utah Const. art. I, § 12 (stating that unless otherwise provided by statute, “the function of that examination is limited to determining whether probable cause exists”). If the prosecution meets that burden, the magistrate binds defendant over for trial in district court. See Utah R. Crim. P. 7(i)(2). If, on the other hand, the prosecution fails to meet its probable cause burden, the magistrate must “dismiss the information and discharge the defendant.” Utah R. Crim. P. 7(i)(3).

The purpose of the preliminary hearing is to eliminate unwarranted prosecutions and to “relieve the accused from the substantial degradation and expense incident to a modern criminal trial when the charges against him are unwarranted or the evidence insufficient.” *State v. Anderson*, 612 P.2d 778, 784

(Utah 1980). In short, the preliminary examination “acts as a screening device to ‘ferret out . . . groundless and improvident prosecutions.’” *State v. Brickey*, 714 P.2d 644, 646 (Utah 1986) (quoting *Anderson*, 612 P.2d at 783-84).

As a general proposition, a dismissal for insufficient evidence does “not preclude the State from instituting a subsequent prosecution for the same offense.” Utah R. Crim. P. 7(i); accord *State v. Morgan*, 2001 UT 87, ¶10, 34 P.3d 767 (holding that rule 7 “permits refiling as a general proposition”). Nevertheless, “the State’s ability to refile is not without bounds.” *Pacheco-Ortega*, 2011 UT App 186, ¶10. In *State v. Brickey*, the Utah Supreme Court recognized that “unbridled prosecutorial discretion to refile charges carries an inherent potential for abusive practices, repugnant to a defendant’s state due process right to fundamental fairness.” 714 P.2d 644, 647 (Utah 1986). The Court in *Brickey* thus held that state “due process considerations prohibit a prosecutor from refiling criminal charges earlier dismissed for insufficient evidence unless the prosecutor can show that new or previously unavailable evidence has surfaced or that other good cause justifies refiling.” *Id.*

The Supreme Court has since “provided a working list of potentially abusive practices that bar refiling under the *Brickey* rule, including ‘forum shopping, repeated filings of groundless and improvident charges for the purpose to harass, . . . withholding evidence, . . . [and] refil[ing] a charge after

providing no evidence of an essential and clear element of a crime.'" *State v. Rogers*, 2006 UT 85, ¶11, 151 P.3d 171. The *Brickey* rule "does not, however, indicate any intent to forbid refiling generally or preclude refiling where a defendant's due process rights are not implicated.'" *Morgan*, 2001 UT 87, ¶ 15. As explained in *Morgan*, "[t]he lodestar of *Brickey* . . . is fundamental fairness." 2001 UT 87, ¶ 15. "[W]hen potential abusive practices are involved, the presumption is that due process will bar refiling." *Id.* at ¶16. However, "[w]hen potential abusive practices are not involved, . . . there is no presumptive bar to refiling." *Id.*²

B. The filing of a new Information charging Defendant with third degree felony theft did not involve a potential abusive practice.

Under Utah law, a defendant is guilty of theft by receiving stolen property if he or she: (1) "receives, retains, or disposes of the property of

² Other jurisdictions have likewise limited any bar to refiling to instances of bad faith. *See, e.g. State v. Elling*, 506 P.2d 1102, 1103 (Ariz. App. 1973) (permitting re-prosecution where no forum shopping involved); *People v. Sabell*, 708 P.2d 463, 466 (Colo.1985) (permitting refiling where court found no oppressive tactics); *State v. Bacon*, 791 P.2d 429, 433-34 (Ida. 1990) (permitting re-prosecution unless there is evidence of bad faith or purposeful harassment); *Stockwell v. State*, 573 P.2d 116, 126 (Ida. 1977) (stating "refiling is not prohibited unless done without good cause or in bad faith"); *State v. Vargo*, 362 N.W.2d 840, 842-43 (Mich. App. 1985) (holding simple "neglect" rather than "deliberate attempt to harass defendant" justified refiling); *State v. Dail*, 424 N.W.2d 99, 102 (Neb. 1988) (permitting re-prosecution where no forum shopping was involved); *Chase v. State*, 517 P.2d 1142, 1143 (Okla.Ct.App.1973) (holding that mistaken testimony in first preliminary hearing justified refiling).

another," and (2) "know[s] that [the property] has been stolen, or believ[es] that it probably has been stolen." Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-408 (2008). After taking evidence at the preliminary hearing on the July 2009 Information, the magistrate found that the evidence was sufficient to establish probable cause of both theft elements and bound Defendant over to district court for trial on second degree felony theft as charged. *See* 1R116:18-19 ("finding probable cause to bind over" to district court).

On a subsequent motion to quash the bindover, the district court judge agreed that "the probable cause standard [for theft by receiving] was met based on the evidence that was provided" at the preliminary hearing. 2R117:15-16.³ However, the court ultimately dismissed the case "without prejudice" for lack of jurisdiction because it concluded that the State had not presented sufficient evidence showing that the theft was a second degree felony. *See* 1R117:16; 1R118:5. At the preliminary hearing, the State successfully proceeded on the theory that the theft was "a second degree felony because the [stolen ATV] was an operable motor vehicle." 1R116:18-19; *see* 76-6-412(1)(a)(ii) (punishing theft as a second degree felony if the stolen property is "an operable motor vehicle"). The district court disagreed. It

³ Defendant has not challenged this conclusion on appeal. *See* Aplt. Brf. at 14-23.

concluded that the off-road ATV was not a “motor vehicle” based on the definition of motor vehicle in section 76-6-410.5, which governs the theft of rental vehicles: “‘a self-propelled vehicle that is intended primarily for use and operation on the highways.’” See 1R118:16 (quoting Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-410.5 (West 2004)).

Following the dismissal of the July 2009 Information, the State refiled the theft charge against Defendant—this time as a third degree felony based on the ATV’s value. See 2R1-2. On appeal, Defendant argues that this refiling violated the *Brickey* rule for two reasons. First, he argues that “the State’s newly proffered evidence [of value] was neither new nor previously unavailable—that is, it was available at the time of the preliminary hearing and the State was dilatory in assembling it.” Aplt. Brf. at 16-17 (emphasis in original). Second, Defendant argues that the State “misinterpreted the elements of the [theft] offense and failed to produce any evidence on one of those elements—a practice . . . condemn[ed] as being potentially abusive.” Aplt. Brf. at 17-23. Defendant’s claims fail.

As noted, the *Brickey* rule bars “refiling criminal charges earlier dismissed for insufficient evidence unless the prosecutor can show that new or previously unavailable evidence has surfaced or that other good cause justifies refiling.” *Brickey*, 714 P.2d at 647. A *Brickey* claim, therefore, involves a two-

part inquiry. First, the Court must determine whether the subject criminal charges were “earlier dismissed for insufficient evidence.” *Id.*; *Pacheco-Ortega*, 2011 UT App 186, ¶11 (observing that “the *Brickey* holding was expressly limited to instances where criminal charges have previously been dismissed for insufficient evidence”). If so, the Court must then determine whether refiling is justified based on “new or previously unavailable evidence” or whether “other good cause justifies refiling.” *Id.*

1. The third degree felony theft by receiving charge was not earlier dismissed for insufficient evidence of value.

Defendant’s claim fails at the outset because the theft by receiving offense – charged as a third degree felony based on the ATV’s value – was not “earlier dismissed for insufficient evidence” of value. *See id.*

In pursuing the theft charge as a second degree felony, the State could proceed on any one of four different theories. Under section 76-6-412, a defendant is guilty of second degree felony theft if the:

- (i) value of the property or services is or exceeds \$5,000;
- (ii) property stolen is a firearm or an operable motor vehicle;
- (iii) actor is armed with a dangerous weapon . . . at the time of the theft; or
- (iv) property is stolen from the person of another;

Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-412(1)(a) (West 2004). In its July 2009 Information, the State alleged the first two theories in the alternative – that “the value of the

property was or exceeded \$5,000 or the property stolen was a firearm or an operable motor vehicle.” 1R2. However, at the preliminary hearing, the State elected not to proceed on a theory based on value, but only on the theory that “[i]t’s a second degree felony because the [ATV’s] an operable motor vehicle.” 1R116:18. As it turned out, the district court concluded that an ATV is not an operable motor vehicle, reduced the charge to a class B misdemeanor, and thereafter dismissed the case for lack of jurisdiction. *See* 1R117:16-18; 1R118:5. Accordingly, the second degree felony case was not dismissed for insufficient evidence of value. The State did not proceed on that theory. It relied solely on the theory that the ATV is an “operable motor vehicle” under section 76-6-412(1)(a)(ii). And it was on that basis that the district court reduced the charge to a misdemeanor.

On appeal, Defendant cites *State v. Redd*, where the Utah Supreme Court held that “[a] presumptively abusive practice occurs when a prosecutor refiles a charge after providing no evidence for an essential and clear element of a crime at a preliminary hearing.” 2001 UT 113, ¶20, 37 P.3d 1160. *Redd* is inapposite. In *Redd*, the Supreme Court observed that to convict a person of disinterment of a dead human body, the State must establish the three “clear elements” of the offense: (1) “that the dead body was ‘buried or otherwise interred,’” (2) “that the defendant disinterred the body,” and (3) “that the

defendant acted intentionally when he or she disinterred the interred dead body.” *Id.* at ¶14 (citation omitted). The Court held that because the State “failed to provide a scintilla of evidence” on the “clear element” of interment, the *Brickey* rule barred refiling absent a showing of good cause. *Id.* at ¶17.

Unlike interment under the disinterment statute, the value of stolen property is not an “essential” element of theft by receiving when charged as a felony. Whether theft is charged as a second degree felony or third degree felony *may* depend on value. *See, e.g.* Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-412(1)(a)(i) (second degree felony if value is \$5,000 or more); Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-412(1)(b)(i) (third degree felony if value is \$1,000 or more but less than \$5,000).⁴ For example, theft may be punishable as a second degree felony if the “value of the property or services is or exceeds \$5,000”; *or if* the “property stolen is a firearm or an operable motor vehicle”; *or if* the defendant “is armed with a dangerous weapon . . . at the time of the theft”; *or if* the “property is stolen from the person of another.” Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-412(1)(a). Theft may be punishable as a third degree felony if the “value of the property or services is or exceeds \$1,000 but is less than \$5,000”; *or if* the defendant “has been twice

⁴ Section 76-6-412 was amended in 2010 and now provides that third degree felony theft requires a value of \$1,500 or more but less than \$5,000. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-412(1)(b)(i) (West Supp. 2010). Misdemeanor theft is dependent on value. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-412(1)(c) (West Supp. 2010).

before convicted of theft, any robbery, or any burglary with intent to commit theft"; or if the property taken is one of an enumerated list of animals. See Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-412(1)(b).

In charging second degree felony theft, the State may pursue any of the four available theories, and its decision to pursue a particular theory over the others does not preclude it from later pursuing an alternative theory. This is particularly true where, as here, the State has already established at the previous preliminary hearing the essential elements of the crime of theft by receiving. Cf. *Pacheco-Ortega*, 2011 UT App 186, ¶11 (holding that the *Brickey* bar to refiling is "expressly limited to instances where criminal charges have previously been dismissed for insufficient evidence").

2. Even assuming, arguendo, that the third degree felony theft by receiving charge was earlier dismissed for insufficient evidence of value, "other good cause" justified refiling.

Even if this Court were to assume, for argument's sake, that the third degree felony theft by receiving charge was earlier dismissed for insufficient evidence of value, the district court correctly ruled that good cause justified refiling.

As explained, criminal charges earlier dismissed may be refiled if "the prosecutor can show that new or previously unavailable evidence has surfaced or that *other good cause* justifies refiling." *Brickey*, 714 P.2d at 647 (emphasis

added). *Brickey's* "other good cause" provision "represents a broad category with 'new or previously unavailable evidence' as but two examples of subcategories that come within its definition." *Morgan*, 2001 UT 87, ¶19. In other words, "'[o]ther good cause' . . . simply means additional subcategories, other than 'new evidence' or 'previously unavailable evidence,' that justify refiling." *Id.*

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